1965

Walker Bank and Trust Company, Administrator of the Estates of Minnetta Walker, aka Netta Walker, Deceased, and Ila Minnetta Walker, Deceased, and John A. Walker, Deceased, and E. Walker, Roma Walker Grock and Alta Fay Walker Lake and J.B. Walker v. Austin Walker : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action by Walker Bank and Trust Com-
pany as Administrator of the Estates of Minnetta Walker
and Ila Minnetta Walker and others against Austin
Walker, Appellant herein, seeking to have certain con-
veyances of real property made to Appellant by Min-

netta Walker (Mother of Appellant) and Ila Minnetta Walker (Sister of Appellant) set aside and requesting the Court to vest the legal titles therein in Plaintiffs as their interests may appear. Appellant asserted that as to the property deeded to him from his mother he was the owner thereof but that in the alternative if the Court adjudged Appellant was not the owner he was entitled to a lien thereon for his services and costs expended in connection with the property and his mother over the years. As to the property deeded from his sister Appellant claimed that he had received the property in trust for certain specific purposes which had been fulfilled.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The matter was tried to the Court without a jury, following which the Court entered judgment divesting Appellant of title to any of the property transferred to him by his mother or sister and requiring him to account for and turn over to Walker Bank & Trust Company all such property, real or personal, as he may have received from his sister, including any interest dividends or other returns thereon, provided Appellant should have a lien on any property received from his sister for expenditures made by him for which the Court shall determine he is entitled to reimbursement.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

This being an equitable proceeding, Appellant seeks by this Appeal to have the Supreme Court review the evidence and determine that the trial court erred in

holding that a confidential relationship existed between Appellant and his mother and that Appellant exercised undue influence upon his mother in connection with the execution and delivery by her of the Deeds on the property in question. Appellant further contends that the trial court erred in refusing to allow Appellant or his wife to testify with respect to any claimed undue influence. In the alternative Appellant claims that he should be entitled to be reimbursed for the monies expended by him, for taxes and other costs incident to operation of the property and for his services rendered thereon and for his mother, for which he is entitled to a lien on the property.

With respect to the property acquired from his sister the Lower Court erred in holding there was a confidential relationship between the parties since Appellant has always conceded that he received such property in trust for certain purposes which are undisputed by the parties and in connection therewith the Court should have permitted him to make an accounting in which he would receive credit for his costs and expenses incurred as well as reasonable compensation for his services.

Finally, Appellant contends that the trial court erred in refusing to grant Appellant a new trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the time of the pretrial this case and a companion case in which the plaintiffs are the same as here

and J. B. Walker is named as defendant, being case no. 139,265 recently decided on appeal by this court, were consolidated for trial (R. 15(a)). Even though consolidated, the evidence was heard separately in each case. The J. B. Walker case was tried first; and thereafter at the trial of the instant matter and evidence in that case insofar as applicable was deemed evidence in this case. References to the transcript in the J. B. Walker case will be by page number following the designation "JBW." Reference to the transcript in this case will be by page number following the designation "R."

Plaintiffs seek to have the court set aside two deeds obtained by the defendant from his mother upon the ground of incompetency of the grantor (Tr. 16a). They also seek relief with respect to transfers to defendant of property from his sister Ila.

The defendant Austin Walker is the youngest son of John A. and Minnetta Walker. He has two brothers, J. B. Walker and R. E. Walker, who are the two eldest children of the family. There were three sisters, Faye, Ila and Roma (JBW 210, 211). The father died in 1912 (JBW 211); Ila died on February 23, 1955 (R. 114); the mother died in November 1959 (R. 115). The family grew up on a farm of approximately 40 acres in the vicinity of Union in Salt Lake County, Utah (JBW 212). J.B., R. E., and Faye were married in the 1920s. R. E. moved away when he got married; J. B. and his wife remained in the home until 1931 when they moved away (JBW 211, 212). Faye and her husband moved to Nevada; Ila never married. She lived in the family home

all of her life until 1952 (R. 145). Roma lived in the family home except for periods when she worked in California and Nevada. She returned to the family home in 1954 and has been there ever since. (R. 249). Minnetta Walker, the mother, lived in the family home until her death, except for a year in 1952 and 1953 when she was with Faye in Nevada (R. 352). Austin married in 1933 (R. 142) and ever since then, except for two or three years, has lived with his family within approximately a block of the family home (R. 450).

Prior to 1920, J. B. and R. E. engaged in the trucking business and from then on did no farming (R. 143). From approximately 1920 until the present time Austin had practically the sole responsibility for the operation of the farm (R. 142). There were two or three years when his mother rented the farm but the lessees failed to perform and it became Austin's responsibility to salvage as much of the crop as possible (R. 289).

Until approximately 1947 there were horses and cows on the farm and chickens at various times (R. 418). Most of the crops produced on the place were used to feed the livestock and were used by the family (R. 288). Prior to about 1920, the family operated a mercantile store. However the store was closed in the early 1920s (JBW 239) and thereafter the only source of income of Mother Walker was from the sale of dairy and poultry products (R. 230) produced on the farm.

The farm consisted of three tracts of land — viz., a tract of approximately 11 acres shown in pink on Ex-

hibit 3; a tract shown in orange on Exhibit 3 consisting of approximately 19 acres; and a tract known as the "creek property" but not shown on Exhibit 3, consisting of approximately 10 acres. In addition there are the lots shown on Exhibit 3 East of the pink tract where the Walker home, outbuildings and store were located.

On October 8, 1954, Minnetta Walker, the mother, executed and delivered to Austin two deeds which are Exhibits P-4 and P-6. Exhibit P-4 describes the property known as the "creek property"; Exhibit P-6 describes the property shown in pink. These deeds were executed by Austin's mother at a bank in Midvale, Utah, in the presence of Dale Waters, Vice President and Manager of the bank, who then and there notarized her signature (R. 317, 318). At the time of the execution of said deeds she remarked, in his presence, that she was glad she could do this in return for what Austin had done for her and that Austin had more than paid for the property (R. 400, 406). From the time of their execution until they were recorded on November 25, 1959, said deeds were in the possession and control of Austin (R. 398).

In the late 1930s a compromise for delinquent taxes on the Walker property for several prior years was effected for the sum of \$844.44 (JBW 300). Austin paid this sum by his check dated December 26, 1939, Exhibit 49, in Case 139,265 (R. 407, 408). Austin also paid taxes on the Walker property for the years 1925, 1926, 1929 and 1931, totalling \$438.12. Exhibit D-11. Austin also paid taxes on the Walker property for the years 1943 to 1962 inclusive totalling \$3,320.07, Exhibit D-12. All

taxes above mentioned were paid with funds of Austin except during the 1930s Austin's mother gave him money to pay taxes for three or four years (R. 444). Taxes on the tract shown in pink and the "creek property" which were conveyed to Austin by his mother are included in the amounts paid for the years above set forth (R. 407). Austin had exclusive possession of the property acquired from his mother from the year 1947 until the present time. (R. 421).

In December 1954, Ila Walker, a sister of Austin, was in a hospital at which time she caused her property to be transferred to Austin (R. 321). Included in the property so transferred was a 3 acre tract, shown on Exhibit 3 as the property in brown, which was transferred by quit claim deed, being Exhibit P-5. Appellant has always agreed that he received the property from Ila for the purpose of paying her debts and funeral expenses and for paying for the support and maintenance of his mother until her death and then for her expenses of last illness and funeral expenses (R. 427). He offered at the time of the trial to account for the property received from Ila; but the court refused to permit him to do so (R. 427).

The trial court found there was a confidential relationship between defendant and his mother and also between defendant and his sister Ila (R. 47, 48). The trial court held the deeds from defendant's mother to be null and void on the ground of undue influence exercised by the defendant upon her (R. 47). The court ordered defendant to account for all the property transferred to

him from his sister Ila and, except such as the court "shall determine he is entitled to by way of reimbursement out of the assets of the trust," ordered him to deliver the same to the administrator of the estate of his sister (R. 44).

The defendant claims the deeds from his mother are valid or, in the alternative if he is deprived of the property, that he should be entitled to a lien thereon for the amount of taxes paid, improvements made and services rendered (R. 6, 7). Defendant acknowledged the trust with respect to the Ila property and offered to account for the same as stated above, and claimed compensation for his services as trustee (R. 19). Appeal is taken from the orders of the trial court denying defendant any of the relief claimed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS NO CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DEFENDANT AND HIS MOTHER; AND THE DEEDS WERE NOT PROCURED BY UNDUE INFLUENCE UPON HER.

The Court made a finding that a confidential relationship existed between Appellant and his mother and that the Deeds were procured by Appellant by the exercise of undue influence upon her but did not find any facts upon which the confidential relationship would rest. However, undue influence was not an issue in the case. The Pre-trial Order lists the contentions of the Respondents as follows:

(1) Defendant acquired certain property from his sister on an express trust (R-16). (This was always the position taken by Defendant.)

(2) If the property was not taken on an express trust, the transfer to Defendant from his sister was voidable because of "the incompetency of Ila Walker at the time of the execution of the instruments by which the various transfers were effected." (R-16A)

(3) The transfers of certain properties to Defendant from his mother "are void by reason of the incompetency of the grantor." (R-16A)

(4) Defendant has admitted and declared he "held those properties acquired from his mother in trust for the Plaintiffs and generally for the heirs of Minnetta Walker." (R-16A)

Nor did the Pre-trial Order frame an issue as to any "confidential" relationship between Appellant and his mother or sister.

At the beginning of the trial, Counsel for Respondents in his opening statement made the following reference concerning undue influence and confidential relationship:

"It will further be our contention that if Minnetta Walker was technically competent at the time she executed these instruments, she nevertheless did so under undue influence from the defendant, Austin Walker. Our evidence of undue influence will be simply the close family tie between the defendant and the donor, the fact that he lived in such close proximity to her, that he saw her quite frequently. His chicken coop was right next to her house. I say he saw her

frequently; and if there was a confidential relationship between this mother and any of her sons, it was between Minnetta and the defendant."

This statement explains why the record appears to be totally lacking in either any evidence of a confidential relationship between Defendant his mother or of any facts indicating the exercise of undue influence upon her by Defendant.

Although Respondents admitted at the outset that their claim of undue influence rests upon the "close family tie between the defendant and the donor," the law is well settled that family relationship alone is not sufficient to establish "confidential relationship" or "undue influence." In *Hatch v. Hatch*, 46 U.218, 148 P. 433, where the Court was concerned with a conveyance from a father to his son, the Court held:

"In nearly all, if not all, of the foregoing cases (excepting those cited from Utah) the question of what constitutes a fiduciary relation or one of such trust and confidence as ordinarily will cast the burden of proof on the beneficiary of a particular transaction is fully discussed. It is made very clear that under circumstances like those in the case at bar there is no such fiduciary relation of trust and confidence as will cast the burden of proof upon the beneficiary under a deed or a will. *The relation of parent and child or husband and wife does not, in and of itself, create any such presumption.*" (Emphasis added)

Again, in the case of *Froyd v. Barnhurst*, 83 U. 271, 28 P. 2d. 135, the Court made the following comments.

"Appellants apparently place the burden of their argument upon the proposition that there

was a confidential relationship existing between defendant and her mother, Mrs. Sandin, and therefore this case is controlled by the rule that, where such confidential relationship exists between grantor and grantee, the burden is upon the grantee to show the transaction to be fair and free from fraud and undue influence. Appellant cites *Peterson v. Budge*, 35 Utah 596, 102 P. 211; *Birdsell v. Leavitt*, 32 Utah 136, 89 P. 397; *Toland v. Corey*, 6 Utah 392, 24 P. 190; *Omega Investment Co. v. Woolley*, 72 Utah 474, 271 P. 797; also *Paddock v. Pulsifer*, 43 Kan. 718, 23 P. 1049, 1051.

"Defendants do not complain of the rule stated and followed in these cases, but contend they have no application to the case at bar. *In other words*, they contend the facts here do not present a case of fiduciary or confidential relationship. Here the claim of fiduciary relationship is based upon the following evidence in addition to the fact of the parties being mother and daughter: The mother was old and feeble, could not read or write the English language; she lived with the daughter, who at one time tried to collect a note belonging to her mother without success. For a time they had the mother's money in a joint bank account in the name of both the mother and daughter, and the daughter at times collected the rent due to her mother.

"*This court is committed to the doctrine that the mere relationship of parent and child does not constitute evidence of such confidential relationship as to create a presumption of fraud or undue influence. Hatch v. Hatch*, 46 Utah 218, 148 P. 433, 437; *Furlong v. Tilley*, 51 Utah 617, 172 P. 676." (Emphasis added)

See, also, *Furlong v. Tilley*, 51 U. 617, 172 P. 676; *Amado v. Aguirre*, 63 Ariz. 213, 161 P. 2d. 117; *Salvner v. Salv-*

ner, 349 Mich. 375, 84 N.W. 2d 871, *Binder v. Binder*, 50 U. 2d 142, 309 P. 2d 1050.

This Court has been required on several occasions to reverse the trial court on the matter of undue influence. See, *Chadd v. Moser*, 25 U. 369, 71 P. 870; *Stringfellow v. Hanson*, 25 U. 480, 71 P. 1052; *In re Lavelle's Estate*, 122 U. 253, 248 P. 2d 372; *Richmond v. Ballard*, 7 U. 2d 341, 325 P. 2d 839.

In the Richmond Case this Court quoted with approval from the earlier case of *Anderson v. Thomas*, 108 U. 252, 159 P. 2d 142. There the evidence relied on by the Plaintiff to set aside the conveyance included the following facts:

"(1) The transfer to the Defendant son was without consideration (other than love and affection);

(2) The Grantor (mother) was 86 years old;

(3) She was failing in health and almost totally blind;

(4) At time of the transfer she was grieving over the loss of another son;

(5) Court found that, under the circumstances, the Grantor could have been easily imposed upon;

(6) The Grantee (son) lived in same home with the Grantor;

(7) The Grantee received "substantially all" of Grantor's property a few months before Grantor's death;

(8) The transfer to Grantee in effect disinherited six other children;

"This Court, in an opinion by Justice Wolfe, affirmed the District Court's decision refusing to find undue influence on the above facts, stating:

'However, these circumstances alone are not sufficient to show undue influence. The Plaintiff must do more than merely raise a suspicion. There must be some affirmative evidence to show that Richard did exercise a dominating influence over this mother and thus induced her to part with her property. Such affirmative evidence is almost totally lacking here.'

"The Court observed that 'no one testified to anything that would indicate that Richard was bringing pressure to bear on his mother to effect the transfer of this property to him.' "

A finding of undue influence cannot rest upon mere suspicion, nor will it be presumed from mere interest or opportunity.

"We are aware that '***undue influence is seldom subject to direct proof, but, as a general rule, must be established by inferences and circumstances***'; but it must also be kept in mind that ****it likewise is true that a finding of undue influence cannot rest upon mere suspicion.* There must be some substantial facts upon which the inferences and deductions are based, and the circumstances relied on should clearly point out the person who it is alleged exercised the undue influence and his acts constituting the alleged undue influence." (Emphasis added.) In *re La-Velle's Estate*, 122 Utah 253, 248 P. 2d 372, 378.

***Undue influence must be proved. *It will not be presumed from mere interest or opportunity. The opportunity to exercise influence, unless combined with circumstances tending to show its exercise affords no presumption that it was in*

fact exercised." (Emphasis added.) Re Bryan's Estate 82 Utah 390, 25 P. 2d 610.

Bradbury v. Rasmussen,U. 2nd...., 401 P. 2d 710, is the most recent case of which we are aware in which this Court has discussed confidential relationship and undue influence. In that case the Court reversed the trial court and found there was not a confidential relationship and that a finding of undue influence could not be sustained. In discussing these questions, the Court stated on page 713 of 401 Pacific 2nd:

"The first question to be resolved is whether the lower court erred in its determination that a confidential relationship existed between the parties as that term is considered in its legal significance. *The evidence is undisputed that there existed among the parties sincere affection, trust and confidence, but is that legally sufficient to constitute a confidential relationship giving rise to a presumption that the transaction was unfair?* We think not.

"The mere relationship of parent and child does not constitute evidence of such confidential relationship as to create a presumption of fraud or undue influence. While kinship may be a factor in determining the existence of a legally significant confidential relationship, there must be a showing in addition to the kinship, a reposal of confidence by one party and the resulting superiority and influence on the other party. *The relationship must be such as would lead an ordinarily prudent person in the management of his business affairs to repose that degree of confidence in the other party which largely results in the substitution of the will of the latter for that of the former in the material matters involved in the transaction.* The doctrine of con-

fidential relationship rests upon the principle of inequality between the parties, and implies a position of superiority occupied by one of the parties over the other. *Mere confidence in one person by another is not sufficient alone to constitute such a relationship. The confidence must be reposed by one under such circumstances as to create a corresponding duty, either legal or moral, upon the part of the other to observe the confidence, and it must result in a situation where as a matter of fact there is superior influence on one side and dependence on the other.*" (emphasis ours)

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