1965

Walker Bank and Trust Company, Administrator of the Estates of Minnetta Walker, aka Netta Walker, Deceased, and Ila Minnetta Walker, Deceased, and John A. Walker, Deceased, and E. Walker, Roma Walker Grock and Alta Fay Walker Lake and J.B. Walker v. Austin Walker : Brief of Plaintiffs-Respondents

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

"All these tax receipts were given to my brother, Austin L. Walker, when he was redeeming the property on taxes which he had not paid, which were a part of the consideration for him having the use of the property, rent free, from 1920 to date."

J. B. Walker also testified (JBW Record, p 156), when asked by what agreement A. L. Walker had paid taxes on the farm, as follows:

"that he would have the use of the property to take care of the taxes upon it and maintain it at least in the condition which he received it."

Defendant made no attempt to refute that testimony. He

corroborated it. At page 435 of the Record, he said, "there were years when I was not concerned for the payment of those taxes, . . . that mother gave me a sum of money to pay for the taxes which were delinquent previous to that time". This can only be interpreted as an acknowledgement that he had a contractual obligation, as to some years, to pay the taxes. It is also clear from the record that defendant occupied both the pink and orange tracts (of Exhibit 3) on the same understanding. He testified (R 437) that his right to possession was so well recognized that he could have excluded his mother "if there had been any difference" between them. At pages 434, 435 and 436 of the Record, he testified that he had the same kind of possession and control of the pink property as of the orange.

The undisputed fact is, then, that defendant had possession and control of the entire farm for the consideration of his payment of the taxes. Exhibits D-20, D-23 and D-44 of the J. B. Walker case are an exhaustive compilation, made by J. B. Walker, of the taxes assessed against the properties making up the farm from 1920 to 1962 and by whom those taxes were paid. Those exhibits indicate a total payment by defendant of \$3,551.25. Defendant's checks, which are in evidence, total to something less than that. Mr. Fletcher, plaintiffs' witness as land appraiser, testified that a reasonable rental for the farm from 1933 to trial date would have been \$18,270.00 (JBW Record, p 297). Since there is no other evidence on the point, it must be concluded that defendant rented the farm for about one-fifth of an adequate rental. There is no evidence of the profit

defendant actually made from the sale of the produce from the farm. He refused to answer an interrogatory on the point (JBW Record, p. 17, interrogatory No. 7, p 21, answer no. 7) and no competent evidence was received at the trial. It is difficult to see how he establishes a strong equitable position, however, by having taken advantage of his mother for so many years.

There is testimony from many witnesses about Minnetta's cows, how much of defendant's hay they ate, how much feed Minnetta had to buy elsewhere and how much in dairy products defendant received in return. By defendant's own testimony, however, Minnetta had disposed of all her cows by 1946 (R. 418). In 1947, again by defendant's testimony (Deposition p. 41) he offered to pay his mother \$1,000.00 per acre for her land. Certainly at that time, when his mother was fully competent, defendant and his mother did not agree that he had "earned" the farm. Between 1947 and 1954, defendant continued to use the farm for a token rental, gave his mother no hay and made no other contribution which would establish him, in equity, as his sisters' superior. During that same period, until 1952, Ila and Roma provided Minnetta's financial support and acted as her nurse, housekeeper and cook. When Ila became ill in 1952, Minnetta went to Nevada and stayed with plaintiff Fay Walker Lake for at least a year. Defendant helped his mother financially only when both Ila and Roma were too ill to be employable.

The only major change which occurred between 1947 and 1954 was the deterioration of Minnetta's mental

apparatus. It was not until that deterioration had progressed to the point where Minnetta could not remember her children — at least when they were out of sight — that defendant succeeded in the procurement of Minnetta's signature on the instruments which disinherited five of her children — including the ones who had done the most for her.

Defendant has cited the several Utah cases which hold that the doctrine of confidential relationship has application only when there is a showing (1) of inequality between the parties and (2) that the defendant occupied a superior position. In every one of those cases, one of the elements was obviously lacking. In *Bradbury v. Rasmussen*, on which defendant heavily relies, the evidence of inequality was entirely lacking, and the court would not sustain a finding of confidential relationship or give plaintiff the benefit of the presumption of undue influence in the absence of such evidence. In every other case defendant has cited for his claim of trial court error in finding a confidential relationship, such evidence has been similarly lacking. Where the two elements are shown to be present, as in *Johnson v. Johnson* (supra), this court has not hesitated to give effect to the presumption.

The one case defendant cites where the facts are somewhat similar to those in the instant case is *Anderson v. Thomas*, 108 U 252, 159 P 2d 142. At page 12 of his brief, defendant presents a statement of the facts of that case within quotes as if it were an excerpt from the court's opinion. It is not. We are certain this oc-

curred by inadvertance, and point it out only so the court will recognize that the abstract is defendant's and not the court's. In the *Anderson* case, the trial court found for the defendant, that there was no undue influence. In considering plaintiff's appeal, this court reviewed the evidence of the grantor's mental impairment and found *nothing* to suggest such impairment, let alone enough to reverse the trial court findings. All the evidence was to the effect that the grantor was perfectly able to deal with the grantee and others on terms of reasonable equality. Interestingly, the plaintiffs appear never to have raised the question of confidential relationship, and the court doesn't comment on the doctrine or the presumption that arises from it.

We believe the comment of Justice Turner, in his concurring opinion in the *Anderson* case, has relevaney to the instant case:

"I think courts should accept wills and conveyances made by the extremely aged or severely ill with great caution. It is universally known that serious illness and age wear down both body and mind. Wills and conveyances, generally speaking, should be made before the final turn, the time when it becomes apparent that there is no hope for recovery. In every land and in many families there are some so saturated with greed that they, like vultures, watch the sick and dying and await the opportune time to strike and take everything possible. Greed has no regard for justice or decency. Courts should lend no encouragement to people of such character. It is much better that property be distributed according to statutory law than have the courts give invitation or approval to undue influence and greed."

Defendant has cited and quoted from all the Utah cases in which claims of undue influence have been asserted and rejected. The problem is a recurrent one, and there are as many cases where plaintiffs have failed as there are cases where they have succeeded in proving undue influence. Space prohibits our analyzing each case in detail, but we ask the court to note that, in every case cited by defendant, either (1) the trial court found for the defendant on credible and competent evidence and this court merely upheld its findings, or (2) there was no evidence of mental debility on the part of the grantor or dominance on the part of the grantee.

The instant case is, on the contrary, a case where the trial court found for the *plaintiffs*, and the evidence of the grantor's lack of ability to resist defendant's pressures or to exercise independent judgment, even if one considers the testimony of defendant's witnesses only, is overwhelming. The plaintiff's evidence of Minnetta's disorientation, complete failure of memory, and inability to recognize her children (we believe the episode of Minnetta's failure to recognize Ila at her funeral — R 124 and 189 — is particularly revealing) would support findings of total incompetency.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN RECEIVING EVIDENCE AND MAKING FINDINGS AS TO UNDUPLICATE INFLUENCE EVEN THOUGH THE PRETRIAL ORDER FAILED TO FRAME THAT ISSUE SPECIFICALLY.

Defendant's first contention, in his argument under Point I, is that the pre-trial order failed to frame an

issue with reference to undue influence. The order was, of course, written by the pre-trial judge after lengthy pre-trial, involved the several issues of two lawsuits, and was considerably longer than most. Plaintiffs did state their contention of undue influence in the general discussion of competency during the pre-trial conference, but the plaintiffs' specific contention in this regard was not incorporated in the pre-trial order.

In the trial of the case, plaintiffs proceeded from the opening statement on the theory that undue influence was an issue. That issue was clearly joined in the pleadings — plaintiffs alleging the procurement of the deeds by undue influence in the Complaint, and defendant denying it in his Answer. During the trial, reference was made to the fact that certain testimony was being adduced because of its relevancy on the issue of undue influence, and no attempt was then made to exclude it. The trial judge himself stated repeatedly that undue influence was an issue (R 296, 338, 409, 416) without objection from defendant, and defendant adduced evidence in rebuttal on the issue (R-409).

Rule 16 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that the Court shall make an order limiting the issues "to those not disposed of by admissions or agreements of counsel". There were no admissions or agreements at the pre-trial conference which could have eliminated undue influence as an issue, and it was sheer inadvertance that specific language on the point was not incorporated in the order.

We believe the defendant should have made some

point of his contention that undue influence was not an issue at the time of trial instead of permitting plaintiffs to proceed on that theory. The policy of Rule 15(b) should in any event be held to control. "When issues not raised . . . are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated as if they had been raised . . ."

POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS RULINGS ON THE "DEAD MAN'S STATUTE."

It appears to be defendant's position that if, in a proceeding of this kind, any evidence of undue influence is permitted to be introduced by the estate's administrator, the adverse party must be permitted to testify as to all conversations, matters and transactions which must have been equally within his knowledge and that of the deceased. It is therefore his position that the plaintiff, in an action of this kind, may not undertake to prove his allegations by evidence of any kind without waiving the protection of the statute. It can hardly have been the intention of the legislature that a party against whom an administrator proceeds should become competent to testify about the proscribed matters as soon as the administrator introduces any evidence at the trial. It is almost startling that, in his Point I, defendant maintains plaintiffs adduced *no* evidence of undue influence, and, in Point II, he maintains plaintiff waived statutory protection by adducing such evidence.

Defendant points to no instance, in the course of the trial, where plaintiffs were allowed to testify about

transactions equally within the knowledge of defendant and deceased, but defendant was not. As a matter of fact, the court was most scrupulous in finding waivers. For example, defendant did not record the deeds in question from the time of their signature until his mother's death more than five years later. We believe his reasons were obvious; he had procured the signatures in secret and, if plaintiffs became aware of the instruments, they would certainly have litigated Minnetta's competency when her mental condition could have been scientifically investigated. Since delivery was a transaction which must have been equally within the knowledge of the defendant and the deceased, plaintiffs objected to defendant's testifying about delivery. The court ruled, however, that defendant could so testify because plaintiffs, in taking defendant's deposition, had asked him how much money he had paid his mother "at the time of the conveyances". By using the word "conveyances" instead of "signing", plaintiffs waived the protection of the statute, said the court, as to defendant's testifying about delivery and about Minnetta's conversation at the time (R. 405-6). This is conversation which the bank officer, by the way, doesn't remember (R. 318).

Furthermore, the record contains a full exposition of the defendant's conduct over the years, and this is the conduct which he maintains is the foundation of his great merit as compared with his brothers and sisters. He was even able to adduce the testimony of his brother J. B. Walker (who was certainly committed to an agreement with defendant that he would help defendant to keep the pink property if defendant would help J. B. to keep the

orange — see discussion at R. 361 ff.) that Minnetta had said she was giving defendant the property in consideration of his services. Only Robert Frost could have put more poignant words into Minnetta's mouth than did J. B. Walker.

The trial judge was apparently persuaded that Minnetta had some conception of what she was doing when she signed the deeds. He did not find her incompetent. But the trial judge was convinced that whatever motive or idea she might have expressed was implanted by defendant. What she said was not even material if she was unduly induced to accept the idea she was expressing. If defendant persuaded his mother he was entitled to the land because he had paid taxes on it and farmed it, he implanted a false belief. He had, on the evidence in this case, really taken advantage of her by paying less than a fifth of adequate rental.

It is interesting that defendant also paid the taxes against and farmed the land J. B. Walker claimed in the companion case. J. B. Walker has felt no moral compulsion to convey that land to defendant.

The record herein is so full of the kind of testimony defendant claims he was prevented from giving that the court's rulings are hardly reversible error. To the extent that defendant made a record of the excluded testimony, as provided by Rule 43 (c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, it would appear that the testimony would have been cumulative and immaterial as to whether Minnetta was unduly influenced. The question is not whether

she was motivated but whether she was unduly induced to be so motivated.

We believe the cases, including those cited by defendant, support the trial court's rulings. There is no waiver of statutory protection when an administrator introduces evidence except as to the specific transaction to which that evidence relates. In particular, we would refer this Court to *Tracy Loan & Trust Co. v. Openshaw Inv. Co.*, 102 U 509, 132 P. 2d 388; *Cook v. Jones*, 115 U 536, 206 P 2d 630; and *In re Pilcher's Estate*, 114 U 12, 197 P 2d 143.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING A CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DEFENDANT AND HIS SISTER ILA.

The finding of a confidential relationship between defendant and his sister was entirely unnecessary to support the judgment and final order as it related to Ila's property. The court did not, of course, make a finding of undue influence or avoid the transfers from Ila to defendant. If it is defendant's position (despite the testimony of his witness, Mrs. Strickland, R. 330) that Ila did not repose trust and confidence in him, we would see no harm in expunging that finding from the record.

The order that defendant account, however, results from his admission that he received the property in trust. He is asked to make the kind of accounting trustees must always make and distribute any remaining property to the beneficiaries of the trust.

If the finding defendant questions is error, it is harmless error. Plaintiffs felt it was material, in a case which puts at issue the question of defendant's capacity for imposing his will on the mentally affected, that Ila would select as trustee, in 1954, a person about whom, in 1952, she said this: (Exh P-8, page 5)

"I have never seen so much crust as the A. L. family has. When mother left, Gladys took everything there was around the place that could be eaten."

and on page 3:

"that doesn't mean I don't have to pay back everyone but Aust and as I told Mary that was a means of my collecting what they owe me."

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING DEFENDANT COMPENSATION FOR HIS SERVICES AS TRUSTEE.

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